
 
 

 
i 

 
Cambridge City Council 

Employment Committee 
 

Date:  Thursday, 26 February 2026 

Time:  5.00 pm 

Venue:  Committee Room 1 & 2, The Guildhall, Market Square, Cambridge, 
CB2 3QJ 

Contact:  democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk, tel:01223 457000 
 
Agenda 
 

1    Apologies  

2    Declarations of Interest  

3    Public Questions  

4    Draft Pay Policy Statement 2025/26 (Pages 3 - 16) 

5    Pensions Discretion Statement (Pages 17 - 32) 
 

Public Document Pack



 

 
ii 

 
 
 

Employment Committee Members: Ashton, Bick, Davey, Howard, 
Martinelli, Moore and Nestor (Chair) 

 

Emergency Evacuation Procedure  
In the event of the fire alarm sounding all persons should vacate the building 
by way of the nearest escape route and proceed directly to the assembly 
point in front St Mary’s Church. The duty Officer will assume overall control 
during any evacuation, however in the unlikely event the duty Officer is 
unavailable, this responsibility will be assumed by the Committee Chair. 
 

Information for the public 

The public may record (e.g. film, audio, tweet, blog) meetings which are open 
to the public. For details go to: 
www.cambridge.gov.uk/have-your-say-at-committee-meetings 

For full information about committee meetings, committee reports, councillors 
and the democratic process:  

• Website: http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk  

• Email: democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk 

• Phone: 01223 457013 

 

http://www.cambridge.gov.uk/have-your-say-at-committee-meetings
http://democracy.cambridge.gov.uk/
mailto:democratic.services@cambridge.gov.uk


 

   

 

DRAFT PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2025/26  

To:  

Employment Committee 

Report by:  

Jane Wilson, Chief Operating Officer 

Tel: Email: jane.wilson@cambridge.gov.uk 

Wards affected:  

All 

Director Approval: Director Jane Wilson confirms that the report author has sought the advice of 

all appropriate colleagues and given due regard to that advice; that the equalities impacts and 

other implications of the recommended decisions have been assessed and accurately presented 

in the report; and that they are content for the report to be put to the Committee. 

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1 The Employment Committee is asked to consider the changes and recommendations 

proposed to pay approaches as outlined in this report, specifically; 

 

a. The recommendation that the Cambridge Weighting rate is increased from 

£13.00 per hour to £13.69 per hour. 

b. To review and recommend to Full Council the Pay Policy Statement at 

Appendix 1. 

2. Purpose and reason for the report 

 

2.1 In 2015, the Secretary of State for Communities and Local Government issued the Local 

Government Transparency Code 2015. The code sets out the key principles in making 

local authorities more transparent and accountable to local people. The Council has 

been, and continues to be, proactive in its compliance with this and the following report 

provides detail on the Council’s pay practices to satisfy the requirements of the code.  

Page 3

Agenda Item 4



 
 

   

 

 

2.2 Under the Localism Act 2011, Local Authorities are required to prepare a Pay Policy 

Statement for each financial year. These statements must articulate an authority’s own 

policies towards a range of issues relating to the pay of its workforce, particularly its 

senior staff (or ‘chief officers’) and its lowest paid employees.  

 

2.3 Attached at Appendix 1, this policy statement must be approved by a resolution of the 

authority, i.e., full Council, and is required to be published by 31 March.  

3. Background and key issues 

 

3.1 The pay policy statement outlines the Councils approach to pay and reward for all staff, 

separating out Chief Officers where necessary to satisfy the requirements of the Localism 

Act.  For Cambridge City Council, the definition of Chief Officer includes the grades of 

Chief Executive, Director and Assistant Director. 

 

In line with the annual review of the pay policy statement, the HR team have reviewed 

the additional elements of pay that are outlined in the pay policy and have developed 

some pay and policy recommendations for the Employment Committee to consider. The 

changes proposed are outlined below, and the pay policy statement has been updated 

to reflect these recommendations. 

 

3.2 Cambridge Weighting 

 

3.2.1 The Council pays a Cambridge Weighting to employees on City Council terms and 

conditions of employment and qualifying agency workers earning less than the 

approved rate per hour. The weighting is paid in addition to salary and the Real Living 

Wage supplement. 

 

3.2.2 The Real Living Wage Foundation rate of pay increased in November 2025 from £12.60 

to £13.45 per hour, higher than the Council’s existing Cambridge Weighting rate of 

£13.00 per hour. It is proposed that the Cambridge Weighting allowance is increased to 

£13.69 per hour from 1st April 2026. 

Page 4



 
 

   

 

3.2.3 There are currently 75 employees that could see an increase to pay if the Cambridge 

Weighting rate was increased to £13.69 per hour. Of these, 67 employees are on zero-

hour contracts and typically work at weekends or evenings where additional 

enhancements already apply. The total cost of increasing the Cambridge Weighting rate 

in line with the recommendation is not expected to exceed £3000 per annum.  

 

4. Corporate plan 

 

4.1 The Pay Policy links in to all the Corporate Plan priorities as it affects those staff working 

across the organisation 

Corporate plan 2022-27: our priorities for Cambridge - Cambridge City Council 

 

 

5. Consultation, engagement and communication 

 

5.1 The Chief Executive and the Council’s Leadership Team have been consulted on this 

report and changes to the attached draft Pay Policy Statement.  

 

The Leader of the Council, Executive Councillor for Finance and Resources and trade 

unions, Unison and GMB have been consulted on the proposed changes to the Pay 

Policy Statement and other recommendations outlined within this report.  

 

This pay policy statement, once approved by Full Council, will be published on the 

Council’s website.  

 

6. Implications 

 

6.1 Relevant risks 

 The financial cost is the only risk identified as a result of this proposal. Any reputational 

and staffing impact is deemed positive.   

 Financial Implications 

Page 5

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/corporate-plan-2022-27-our-priorities-for-cambridge


 
 

   

 

 

6.2 Any immediate costs associated with the recommendations above will be met from 

Group budgets. 

 Legal Implications 

 

6.3 There are no legal implications arising from the report. 

 

 Equalities and socio-economic Implications 

 

6.4 An equality impact assessment has not been undertaken for this report. Equality 

information by grade is analysed in depth and reported annually to the Equalities Panel 

and is available on the Council’s website. 

 

 Net Zero Carbon, Climate Change and Environmental implications 

 

6.5 The proposals in this report have no climate change impact. 

 Procurement Implications 

6.6 The Living Wage Policy as it relates to contractors is included in the Pay Policy 

Statement. 

 Community Safety Implications 

6.7 This report relates to the pay, terms and conditions of staff and does not impact directly 

on community safety matters. 

7. Background documents 

Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to 

Information) Act 1985 

 

7.1 Pay Policy Statement 2025/26 

City Council Pay scales 

Page 6



 
 

   

 

 

8. Appendices 

 

8.1 Appendix 1 – Draft Pay Policy Statement 2026/27 

 

 To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report please contact    

Jane Wilson, Chief Operating Officer, Tel: 07795 542512, email: 

jane.wilson@cambridge.gov.uk  

 

 

Page 7



This page is intentionally left blank



DRAFT 
 
PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2026/27 
Effective from 1st April 2026 

 

1. Introduction 
 
Cambridge City Council is committed to operating consistent, transparent and equitable pay 
arrangements. 
 
This statement details the pay policy and approaches applied to all staff within Cambridge 
City Pay bands in addition to all Statutory and Non-Statutory Chief Officers, as defined 
under the Council’s constitution, to fulfil the Council’s statutory requirements under Chapter 
8 of the Localism Act 2011 (“the Act”) 
 
DRAFT: To be agreed at Full Council  
 

2. Senior Salaries from 1st April 2026  

The salary scales for the Chief Executive, Directors and Assistant Directors following the 
nationally agreed pay award with effect from 1 April 2025 are shown below. 

Progression through the pay grade (a three or four-point scale) is subject to a range of criteria 
that are assessed via an annual performance review. 
 

Pay Grade Point 1 (£) Point 2 (£) Point 3 (£) Point 4 (£) 

Chief Executive 139,349 144,932 150,557 156,140 

Director 107,673 111,678 115,689 119,702 

Assistant Director 2 94,374 97,205 100,122 n/a 

Assistant Director 1 86,270 88,956 91,625 n/a 

 
The Council has an agreement that senior officer pay scales will be reviewed every three years 
in line with the current market median level pay, this includes Chief Executive, Director and 
Assistant Director pay grades. The last review was undertaken in 2023 whereby a full 
redesign of the grades took place. There will be a pay review during 2026. The effectiveness 
of these scales will continue to be reviewed annually. 
 

3. Annual Pay Awards 

For the Chief Executive pay grade, pay awards are nationally determined in accordance with 
the Joint Negotiating Committee (JNC) for Chief Executives. For Directors and Assistant 
Director grades, the Joint Negotiating Committee (JNC) for Chief Officers is applied, and the 
National Joint Council (NJC) determines the pay awards for City Pay Grades 1 – 11. 
 
Pay points within the grades are subject to nationally negotiated pay awards with effect from 
1 April 2026 and will increase in line with any nationally agreed award. 

Page 9



DRAFT 
 

4. Chief Officer Terms and Conditions of Employment 

The terms and conditions of employment for the Chief Executive, Directors and Assistant 
Directors within the scope of this pay policy statement are determined in accordance with 
collective agreements, negotiated from time to time, by the JNC for Chief Executives and the 
JNC for Chief Officers, as set out in the Scheme of Conditions of Service. These are 
supplemented by local collective agreements reached with trade unions recognised by the 
Council and by the rules of the Council. 
 

5. Chief Officer Remuneration on Appointment 
 
Rules governing the recruitment of the Chief Executive, Directors and Assistant Directors are 
set out in the council’s constitution in section; Part 4i, Officer Employment Procedure Rules. 
 
Recruitment to the posts of Chief Executive and Director is undertaken by a committee of 
Councillors appointed by Council. In the case of the Chief Executive, the appointment is made 
by Full Council, following a recommendation from the Employment (Senior Officer) Committee. 
 
Appointment to fixed term Director roles that do not form part of the Leadership Team is 
the responsibility of the Head of Paid Service or their nominee. 
 
Recruitment to posts of Assistant Director will be undertaken by the Chief Executive or a 
Director. The salary on recruitment will be within the salary range for these posts at that time. 

6. Market Supplements 
 
There are occasions when the salary determined by the grading for a post result in an inability 
to successfully recruit to or retain staff in particular posts or specific occupational areas due to 
fluctuations in the labour market supply. This is more challenging in the Cambridge area due 
to the high demand for labour, the high number of vacancies and high cost of housing. 
 
These recruitment and retention problems can affect ability to deliver services. In such cases 
it may be appropriate to pay a market supplement in addition to the salary where there is 
evidence to justify that market factors are the “material reason” for the post attracting a 
higher rate of pay than other posts graded similarly. Any additional market supplement will 
be made in accordance with the Market Pay Policy. 

7. Retention Payments 

There may be occasions when due to recruitment and retention difficulties within a specific 
service area or role, it may be more appropriate to use a recruitment and retention package 
approach than a market supplement. Such an approach offers a fixed lump sum payment for 
new appointments or to the staff in identified roles at a given date. 

Page 10



DRAFT 
 

The payment is tied to a defined retention period and must be repaid in full if the person leaves 
the employment of the Council within the designated period. The aim of this approach is to 
recruit new staff and retain existing staff where there is evidence of both types of difficulty and 
a market supplement approach is assessed as less effective. 

8. Bonuses 

There are no bonus arrangements payable to our Chief Officers or any Council staff. 
 

9. Performance Related Pay 

Performance and progression through the pay band is assessed annually for all staff in line 
with the Council’s performance review schemes. 
 
The performance review for Directors is undertaken by the Chief Executive and for the Chief 
Executive by the Leader and an independent advisor. Performance reviews for all other 
Officers are undertaken by their line manager. 

10. Senior Salary Pay Data 

In accordance with the Government’s Code of Recommended Practice for Local Authorities 
on Data Transparency, the Council publishes information on all employees earning £50,000 
or above. 
 
Following approval at Full Council of the Draft Pay Policy Statement this updated pay policy 
statement is published on the Councils website. 

11. Expenses 

The expenses which may be payable to all Officers, including the Chief Executive, Director 
and Assistant Directors include: 

▪ car/bicycle/motorcycle allowances at HMRC rates 
▪ re-imbursement of travel and subsistence 
▪ one professional subscription per annum 
▪ payments under the eye-sight tests scheme 
▪ relocation assistance in accordance with the Relocation Scheme 

 

12. Severance Payments 

Severance payments are made in accordance with the council’s employment policies and are 
the same for all staff. 

Employees with more than two years’ service will be entitled to redundancy pay in line with 
local government guidelines and statutory provisions. 

Redundant employees may receive the following elements in their final pay: 
▪ Normal pay up to the agreed leaving date 
▪ Where applicable, payment in lieu of outstanding notice 
▪ Severance payment (where entitled). 

Page 11



DRAFT 
 

Under the council’s redundancy scheme a week’s pay will be calculated on the basis of 
actual weekly pay. Cambridge City Council will not apply the statutory week’s pay definition. 
 
Once an employee is in receipt of early payment of pension benefits, if their total pay and 
pension benefits together (if reemployed by another employer covered by the Local 
Government Modification order) exceeds their salary as at the leaving date, the difference may 
be claimed back from pension payments. 

 
An employee will lose their entitlement to redundancy pay if they take up a post with another 
body covered by the Redundancy Payments (Local Government) (Modification) 
(Amendment) Orders within 4 weeks of the date of the redundancy and the offer of the new 
job has been made before the end of the original contract. 
 
Any proposals with a salary or severance package with a total value over £100k will be 
reported by the Employment (Senior Officer) Committee to Full Council for decision. 

The Chief Executive, Monitoring Officer and Chief Finance Officer can only be dismissed by 
the Full Council. All other Directors and Assistant Directors can only be dismissed in 
accordance with the Councils constitution, Part 4i, Officer Employment Procedure Rules. 

13. Pension and Pension Enhancements 

 
All employees are entitled to and receive pension contributions under the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS). This is a contributory scheme and employees currently contribute 
between 5.50% and 12.50% of their pensionable pay to the scheme. Chief Officers 
contributions currently range from 9.90% to 12.50% 
 
The Council’s discretions on enhancement of pension are set out in the Pensions Discretion 
Statement. This policy was approved by the Employment Committee on 24 February 2026. 
The policy is reviewed every 3 years and/or in line with changes to the Local Government 
Pension Scheme (LGPS) as advised by the Local Government Pensions Committee (LGPC) 
and the Administering Authority (Cambridgeshire County Council). 

 
The next review of the Pensions Discretion Statement is scheduled to take place in 2028. 

 

14. Lowest Paid Staff: Real Living Wage & Cambridge Weighting 

Cambridge City Council is an accredited Real Living Wage employer and also pays a 
Cambridge Weighting supplement. This means that the current minimum pay level for any 
member of staff is £13.45 per hour (Real Living Wage set in November 2025).  

The Council’s pay structure starts at Band 1, with the lowest pay point at £24,423 (£12.65 per 
hour) (April 2025). In practice therefore, any employee starting on band 1 is paid the Real 
Living Wage until their pay point reaches a higher amount.  

 
The terms and conditions of employment for Band 1 staff are in accordance with collective 
agreements, negotiated from time to time, by the National Joint Council for Local Government 
Services, as set out in the Scheme of Conditions of Service (commonly

Page 12



DRAFT 
 

known as the Green Book). These are supplemented by local collective agreements reached 
with trade unions recognised by the Council and by the rules of the Council. 

 
14.1 Real Living Wage 

 
The Council is accredited with the Living Wage Foundation which means it has adopted a Real 
Living Wage policy for staff, agency workers and contractors engaged through the Council’s 
Procurement processes. 

 
The implementation date for Real Living Wage increase is usually November for staff engaged 
on city council terms and conditions of employment, following the annual announcement. With 
effect from November 2025 the Real Living Wage increased to £13.45 per hour. 

 
The Council will pay the Real Living Wage rate for staff engaged on city council pay rates by 
way of a supplement to pay rates. 

 
The Council will require contractors engaged through the Council’s procurement processes 
to pay at least the Real Living Wage to all their staff who work on the Council’s premises (or 
land maintained by the Council) for two or more hours on any day of the week for eight or 
more consecutive weeks. The only contracts that will be excluded from the requirement to pay 
the Real Living Wage are: 
▪ contracts where it would be unlawful to require the payment of the Real Living Wage 
▪ contracts where, following evaluation, it is considered inappropriate to impose the 

requirement. 

 
14.2 Cambridge Weighting 

 
The Council pays a Cambridge Weighting to employees on city council terms and conditions 
of employment and related agency workers earning less than the approved rate per hour. The 
weighting is paid in addition to salary and the Real Living Wage supplement. With effect from 
1 April 2026 the Cambridge Weighting rate is £13.69 per hour. 

 
For agency workers the weighting applies in addition to current hourly rates and the Real 
Living Wage arrangements. The weighting is variable, depending upon the current hourly 
rate and the Real Living Wage supplement payable at that time. 

 

15. Apprentices 

Apprentices are appointed on permanent contracts of employment within Cambridge City 
Council unless there is a justifiable reason why there is a requirement for a fixed term post. 
 
Apprentices are paid on a salary proportionate to the role that they have been employed to 
undertake, or the recognised Real Living Wage/Cambridge Weighting rate of pay, whichever 
is the highest. 

Page 13



DRAFT 
 

The Council also offer apprenticeships to current employees who are paid in accordance 
with their existing pay arrangements during the apprenticeship. 

 

16. Pay Ratios 

The table below shows a number of pay ratios. The Council does not have a policy on 
maintaining or reaching a specific pay ratio between the lowest and highest paid staff. The 
highest paid officer of the council is the Chief Executive. The highest pay point on this scale 
is currently £156,140 (April 2025). 

 

 Annual 
Salary 

Ratio to Chief 
Executive highest 

pay point 

Explanation 

Real Living Wage Rate of 

£13.45 (Nov 2025) 
£25,949 1:6.0 Highest pay point and 2025/6 Real Living 

Wage rate. 

Lowest council pay 
scale point (£) 

£24,413 1:6.4 Highest pay point and lowest council pay 
scale point 

Cambridge Weighting of 
£13.69 

£26,410 1:5.9 Highest pay point and £13.69 Cambridge 
Weighting 

Median Average salary £39,862 1:3.9 Highest pay point and current median 
average salary 

17. Election Fees 

The Returning Officer is the person who has the overall responsibility for the conduct of 
elections. The Returning Officer is an officer of the Council who is appointed under the 
Representation of the People Act 1983. Although appointed by the Council the role of the 
Returning Officer is one of a personal nature and distinct and separate from their duties as 
an employee of the Council. Elections fees are paid for these additional duties and they are 
paid separately to salary. 

 
The role of Chief Executive is the council’s Returning Officer. 

 
The fees for Parliamentary, Police & Crime Commissioner, Euro Elections and national 
referenda are set by the Government. The fees for County Council elections are set by the 
County Council. The fees for the Combined Authority Mayoral election are set by the 
Combined Authority. The fees for Parliamentary and European Elections are pensionable. 

 
Fees for district elections are set locally (mindful of neighbour district council fees) and 
were last reviewed in April 2010 as £373 per contested ward and £55 per uncontested 
ward. Fees for district elections are pensionable. 

 
Other officers, including senior officers within the scope of this policy, may receive additional 
payment for specific election duties. 

Page 14



 

 

18. Tax Avoidance and IR35 

The Council takes tax avoidance seriously and will seek to appoint individuals to vacant 
positions using the recruitment procedures on the basis of contracts of employment and 
apply direct tax and National Insurance deductions from pay through the operation of 
PAYE. 

 
Where consultants are recruited, the Council will seek to avoid contractual arrangements 
which could be perceived as being primarily designed to reduce significantly the rate of 
tax paid by that person, such as paying the individual through a company effectively, 
controlled by him or her. 

 
These principles will be embedded in contract clauses and guidance for managers when 
employing consultants. 

 
In addition, workers employed directly by the Council will be assessed to establish whether 
they fall within scope of the IR35 legislation using the HMRC employment status tool. 
Workers that fall within scope will have Income Tax and National Insurance contributions 
deducted and paid over to HMRC. 

 

19. Re-engagement of ex City Council staff 

Re-engagement of any ex City Council staff will be carried out by following the Council’s 
usual recruitment policy and procedures, or for interim arrangements via the Council’s 
procurement policies and the provisions for contract for services. 

 
 

Page 15



This page is intentionally left blank



 

   

 

Pensions Discretion Statement  

To:  

Employment Committee 

Report by:  

Jane Wilson, Chief Operating Officer 

Tel: 07795 541512 Email: jane.wilson@cambridge.gov.uk 

Wards affected:  

All 

 

Director Approval: Director Jane Wilson confirms that the report author has sought the advice of 

all appropriate colleagues and given due regard to that advice; that the equalities impacts and 

other implications of the recommended decisions have been assessed and accurately presented 

in the report; and that they are content for the report to be put to the Committee. 

 

1. Recommendations 

1.1 The Employment Committee is asked to: 

a. Review and approve the updated Pensions Discretion Report attached as 

appendix A 

2. Purpose and reason for the report 

 

2.1 The Local Government Pension Scheme (LGPS) legislation has a number of 

discretionary areas on which Employing Authorities (i.e., Cambridge City Council) have 

to determine and publish a policy.  

The Council’s discretions on enhancement of pension are set out in the Pensions 

Discretion Statement 2022. This policy was approved by the Civic Affairs Committee in 

September 2022.  

The policy is reviewed every 3 years and/or in line with changes to the Local Government 

Pension Scheme (LGPS) as advised by the Local Government Pensions Committee 

Page 17

Agenda Item 5



 
 

   

 

(LGPC) and the Administering Authority (Cambridgeshire County Council). 

Therefore, the policy has been reviewed and the updated policy brought here for 

consideration and approval. 

3. Background and key issues 

3.1 No substantive changes are proposed to the policy previously agreed in 2022. The 

proposed policy which continues to use the pensions scheme administrator mandated 

template. There have been minor changes to the wording designed to improve clarity and 

ease of deliverability. 

4. Corporate plan 

 

4.1 The Pensions Discretion Policy links in to all the Corporate Plan priorities as it affects 

those staff working across the organisation 

Corporate plan 2022-27: our priorities for Cambridge - Cambridge City Council 

 

5. Consultation, engagement and communication 

 

5.1 The Chief Executive, Chief Finance Officer and Monitoring Officer; GMB and UNISON 

have been consulted 

6. Implications 

 

6.1 Relevant risks 

 There are no new risks as a result of this report 

 Financial Implications 

 

6.2 There are no new financial implications as a result of this report 

 Legal Implications 

 

6.3 There are no legal implications arising from the report. 

 

Page 18

https://www.cambridge.gov.uk/corporate-plan-2022-27-our-priorities-for-cambridge


 
 

   

 

 Equalities and socio-economic Implications 

6.4 This report deals with pension discretions for employees and former employees; access 

to pension is normally from age 55 onwards other than for ill health. It should be noted 

that the Government has announced that the earliest age that employees can take their 

pension will increase from age 55 to 57 from 6 April 2028. This will not apply to ill health 

retirements. The LGPS is a national scheme and is open to all employees. 

 Net Zero Carbon, Climate Change and Environmental implications 

6.5 The proposals in this report have no climate change impact. 

 Procurement Implications 

6.6 There are no procurement implications in this report 

 Community Safety Implications 

6.7 This report does not impact directly on community safety matters. 

7. Background documents 

Used to prepare this report, in accordance with the Local Government (Access to 

Information) Act 1985 

 

7.1 Existing Employers Discretions 

Pension Position Statement 

Pensionable Pay Document 

8. Appendices 

8.1 Appendix A – Pensions Discretion Statement 2026 

 

 To inspect the background papers or if you have a query on the report please contact    

Jane Wilson, Chief Operating Officer, Tel: 07795 542512, email: 

jane.wilson@cambridge.gov.uk 

 

Page 19



This page is intentionally left blank



10/10/25

Regulations Key and Timeline
 Discretions from 1.4.14 in relation to post 31.3.14 active members (excluding councillor members) and post 31.3.14 leavers (excluding councillor members), being discretions under:

o   the Local Government  Pension Scheme Regulations 2013 [prefix R] 
o   the Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendment) Regulations 2014 [prefix TP] 
o  the Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2008  [prefix A]
o  the Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Membership and Contributions) Regulations 2007 [prefix B]
o  the Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2008 [prefix T]
o  the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 [prefix L] 

•       Discretions in relation to scheme members (excluding councillor members) who ceased active membership on or after 1.4.08 and before 1.4.14, being discretions under:
o  the Local Government Pension Scheme (Administration) Regulations 2008  [prefix A]
o  the Local Government Pension Scheme (Benefits, Membership and Contributions) Regulations 2007 [prefix B]
o  the Local Government Pension Scheme (Transitional Provisions) Regulations 2008 [prefix T]
o  the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 [prefix L] 

•       Discretions under the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 in relation to active councillor members and any other scheme members who ceased active membership on or after 1.4.98 and before 1.4.08 [Prefix C]
•       Discretions under the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1995  in relation to scheme members who ceased active membership before 1.4.98 [Prefix D]
•       Discretions under the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2006 [Prefix E]
•       Discretions under the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) (England and Wales) Regulations 2000  [Prefix ET]
∗       These employer discretions are subject to a written policy under Local Government Pension Regulations

Key to Type of Discretion

Membership, Aggregation & Contribution 
Discretions Membership

Additional Membership Benefits; Augmentation & 
Final Pay

Additional 
Benefits

Extension of Time Limits Time Limits
Recovery and forfeiture of Contributions 
(Criminal Offences, Fraud & Misconduct)

Recovery & 
Forfeiture

Types of Retirement (Early Payment, Flexible 
Retirement & Actuarial Reduction) Retirement

Ill Health Ill Health 
Redundancy Redundancy 
Apportioning Compensatory Added Years Added Years

Appendix A: Discretions Policy for Cambridge City Council

This policy confers no contractual rights. Cambridge City Council retains the right to change the policies at any time without prior notice or consultation. Only the policy which is current at the time a relevant event occurs to an 
employee/scheme member will be the one applied to that employee/member.

Discretions have been colour coded - 

Compulsory - you must formulate, publish and keep under review a policy on
these discretions

Recommended - there is no requirement for you to publish a written policy
on these discretions, however as these matters arise fairly frequently it would
perhaps be appropriate for you to do so in order that members can be clear
on your policy on these matters

Less Common - there is no requirement for you to publish a written policy on
these discretions

P
age 21



Discretion Regulation Exercised by

Granting 
additional 
pension

Whether to grant additional pension to an active member or 
within 6 months of ceasing to be an active member by reason 
of redundancy or business efficiency

R31 Employer Cambridge City Council will not make use of the discretion to grant extra annual pension to an active scheme member or within 6 months of leaving to a member whose 
employment is terminated on the grounds of redundancy or business efficiency.

Whether, where an active Scheme member wishes to 
purchase extra annual pension up to the permitted threshold at 
the time by making Additional Pension Contributions (APCs), to 
(voluntarily) contribute towards the cost of purchasing that 
extra pension via a Shared Cost Additional Pension 
Contribution (SCAPC) 

R16(2)(e) & 
R16(4)(d) Employer

Cambridge City Council will only contribute to a shared cost APC where:-an active member returns from a period of authorised unpaid leave of absence (otherwise than by 
reason of illness or injury, ordinary maternity leave, paternity leave, ordinary adoption leave or reserve forces service leave-the member does not, within 30 days of returning from 
the leave of absence, make an election to buy-back the whole of the amount of pension ‘lost; during the period of leave of absence-the member subsequently makes an election 
to do so and it can be demonstrated that the reason for the member missing the original 30 day deadline was because the member had not been made aware of that deadline-
the election is made no more than 6 months after the member returns from the period of leave of absence or such longer period as Cambridge City Council may deem 
reasonable in any individual case.

Whether to extend 30 day deadline for member to elect for a 
shared cost APC upon return from a period of absence from 
work with permission with no pensionable pay (otherwise than 
because of illness or injury, relevant child-related leave or 
reserve forces
service leave)

R16(16) Employer
A decision on whether the member meets all of the above criteria (and on whether the 6 month period referred to should be extended in any individual case) will be taken by the 
Asst Director - People & Change and where it is agreed that the conditions are met, Cambridge City Council will contribute 2/3rds of the cost of buying back the ‘lost’ pension via a 
SCAPC

Whether all or some benefits can be paid if an active member 
aged 55 or over and with at least 2 years qualifying service 
reduces their hours or grade (flexible retirement)

R30(6) & TP11(2) Employer CCC has issued a Flexible Retirement Policy, which is available to all employees.  The Flexible Retirement Policy is published on the Council’s intranet. Where flexible retirement 
has been granted, employees are required to take all accrued benefits to date.

Whether to waive, in whole or in part, actuarial reduction  to 
benefits paid on flexible retirement R30(8)

Employer (or 
Admin. 
Authority 
where 
Employer has 
become 
defunct)

CCC does not waive, in whole or in part, any actuarial reduction on benefits paid upon flexible retirement except where it considers it is in its financial or operational interests to do 
so. Each case will be considered on the merits of the financial and / or operational business case put forward and will require the approval of the Asst Director - People & Change 
including, where the reduction is only to be waved in part.

Whether to waive, in whole or in part, actuarial reduction on 
benefits which a member voluntarily draws before normal 
pension age other than on the grounds of flexible retirement 
(where the member only has post 31 March 2014 
membership)

R30(8)

Employer (or 
Admin. 
Authority 
where 
Employer has 
become 
defunct)

Cambridge City Council will not agree to waive actuarial reduction where members choose to voluntarily draw their benefits on or after age 55 and before normal pension age 
except in circumstances where Cambridge City Council considers it is in its financial or operational interests to do so or there are compelling compassionate reasons for doing so. 
Each case:Will be considered on the merits of the financial and/ or operational business case put forward, or Will be considered on the merits of the compassionate case put 
forward, and Will require the approval of the Asst Director - People & Change 

85 Year Rule
Whether to “switch on” the 85 year rule for a member 
voluntarily drawing benefits on or after age 55 and before age 
60 (other than on the grounds of flexible retirement). 

TPSch 2, para, 1(2) 
& 1(1)(c) 

Employer (or 
Admin. 
Authority 
where 
Employer has 
become 
defunct) 

Cambridge City Council will not agree to switch the 85 year rule on where members chose to voluntarily draw their benefits on or after age 55 and before age 60 except in 
circumstances where Cambridge City Council considers it is in the financial or operational interests to do so. Each case will be considered on the merits of the financial and/ or 
operational business case put forward, and will require the approval of the Asst Director - People & Change 

Whether to waive any actuarial reduction for a member 
voluntarily drawing benefits before normal pension age other 
than on the grounds of flexible retirement (where the member 
has both pre 1/4/14 and post 31/3/14 membership) on 
a) compassionate grounds (pre 1/4/14 membership) and in 
whole or in part on any grounds (post 31/3/14 membership) if 
the member was not in the Scheme before 1/10/06, 
b) compassionate grounds (pre 1/4/14 membership) and in 
whole or in part on any grounds (post 31/3/14 membership) if 
the member was in the Scheme before 1/10/06, will not be 60 
by 31/3/16 and will not attain 60 between 1/4/16 and 31/3/20 
c) compassionate grounds (pre 1/4/16 membership) and in 
whole or in part on any grounds (post 31/3/16 membership) if 
the member was in the Scheme before 1/10/06 and will be 60 
by 31/3/16 
d) compassionate grounds (pre 1/4/20 membership) and in 
whole or in part on any grounds (post 31/3/20 membership) if 
the member was in the Scheme before 1/10/06, will not be 60 
by 31/3/16 and will attain 60 between 1/4/16 and 31/3/20 

TP3(1), TPSch 2 
para 2(1), B30(5) & 
B30A(5)

Employer (or 
Admin. 
Authority 
where 
Employer has 
become 
defunct)

Cambridge City Council will not agree -	to waive on compassionate grounds any actuariel reduction on pre 1  April 2014 benefits for Group 3 or 4 members, on pre 1  April 2016 
benefits for Group 1 members, or on pre 1  April 2020 benefits for Group 2 members, and / or - to waive in whole or in part on any grounds (including compassionate grounds) 
any acturial reduction on post 31 March 2014 benefits for Group 3 or 4 members, on post 31 March 2016 benefits for Group 1 members, or on post 31  March 2020 benefits for 
Group 2 members where members choose to voluntarily draw their benefits on or after age 55 and before Normal Pension Age except in circumstances where Cambridge City 
Council considers it is in its financial or operational interests to do so or there are compelling compassionate reasons for doing so. Each case will be considered on the merits of 
the financial and / or operational business case put forward, or be considered on the merits of the compassionate case put forward, and require the approval of the Asst Director - 
People & Change.

Group 1 members are members who were members of the LGPS before 1 October 2006 and will be 60 or more on 31 March 2016.

Group 2 members are members who were members of the LGPS before 1 October 2006 and will not be 60 or more on 31 March 2016 but will attain age 60 between 1 April 
2016 and 31 March 2020.

Group 3 members are members who were members of the LGPS before 1 October 2006 and will not be 60 or more on 31 March 2016 and will not attain age 60 between 1 April 
2016 and 31 March 2020.

Group 4 members are members who were not members of the LGPS before 1 October 2006.

Discretions from 1.4.14. in relation to post 31.3.14. active members (excluding councillor members) and 
post 31.3.14. leavers (excluding councillor members)
R = LGPS Regulations 2013 and
TP = LGPS (Transitional Provisions, Savings and Amendments) Regulations 2014

Shared cost 
APCs

Flexible 
retirement

Waive 
Reduction

P
age 22



Whether to waive, in whole or in part, actuarial reduction on 
benefits which a member voluntarily draws before normal 
pension age other than on the grounds of flexible retirement 
(where the member only has post 31/3/14 membership)

R30(8)

Employer (or 
Admin. 
Authority 
where 
Employer has 
become 
defunct)

Cambridge City Council will not agree to waive actuarial reduction where members choose to voluntarily draw their benefits on or after age 55 and before normal pension age 
except in circumstances where Cambridge City Council considers it is in its financial or operational interests to do so or there are compelling compassionate reasons for doing so. 
Each case:Will be considered on the merits of the financial and/ or operational business case put forward, or Will be considered on the merits of the compassionate case put 
forward, and Will require the approval of the Asst Director - People & Change 

Shared cost 
AVCs

Whether, how much, and in what circumstances to contribute 
to shared cost AVC arrangements. 

R17(1) & definition 
of SCAVC in RSch 
1 

Employer
Cambridge City Council will not enter into a shared cost AVC arrangement other than a) where the scheme member enters into a SCAVC salary sacrifice arrangement (subject 
to scheme approval by Civic Affairs Committee or by Asst Director - People & Change upon agreed delegation) or b) in exceptional circumstances in which case the decision to 
contribute and the amount of contributions, will be subject to the approval of Asst Director - People & Change

Transferring 
in non LGPS 
pension rights

Extend normal time limit for acceptance of a transfer value 
beyond 12 months from joining the LGPS R100(6)

Employer and 
Admin. 
Authority

Subject to the agreement of the relevant administering authority in any individual case, Cambridge City Council will extend the 12 months period: a) a)	Where the member asked 
for transfer investigations to be commenced within 12 months of joining the LGPS but a quotation of what the transfer value will purchase in the LGPS has not been offered to the 
member within 11 months of joining the LGPS.  The time limit for such a member to make a formal election to transfer pension rights into the LGPS will be extended to one 
month beyond the date of the letter issued by the appropriate administering authority providing the scheme member with a quotation of what the transfer value will purchase in the 
LGPS; b) b)	Where the Asst Director - People & Change agrees that the available evidence indicates the member had not been informed of the 12 month time limit due to 
maladministration; or c) c)	Where the Asst Director - People & Change agrees that the available evidence indicates the member had made an election within 12 months of 
joining the LGPS but the election was not received by the appropriate administering body (e.g. the election form was lost in the post)

Whether to extend the 12 month option period for a member to 
elect that post 31 March 2014 deferred benefits should not be 
aggregated with a new employment

R22(8)(b) Employer

Cambridge City Council will extend the 12 months period: a) where the Asst Director - People & Change agrees that the available evidence indicates the member had not been 
informed of the 12 month time limit due to maladministration b) where the Asst Director - People & Change agrees that the available evidence indicates the member had made 
an election within 12 months of joining the LGPS but the election was not received by the appropriate administering authority (e.g. the election form was lost in the post) c) the 
member has pre 1 April 2014 membership and the Asst Director - People & Change agrees the available evidence indicates that, due to maladministration, the member had not 
been informed of the implications of having benefits aggregated and would, in consequence, suffer a detriment to their pension benefits (for example, where member’s whole-
time equivalent pensionable pay on commencing with CCC is, in real terms after allowing for inflation, significantly less than the whole-time equivalent pensionable pay upon 
which the deferred benefits were calculated).

Whether to extend the 12 month option period for a member to 
elect that post 31 March 2014 deferred benefits should not be 
aggregated with an ongoing concurrent employment 

R22(7)(b) Employer

Cambridge City Council will extend the 12 months period: a) where the Asst Director - People & Change agrees that the available evidence indicates the member had not been 
informed of the 12 month time limit due to maladministration b) where the Asst Director - People & Change agrees that the available evidence indicates the member had made 
an election within 12 months of joining the LGPS but the election was not received by the appropriate administering authority (e.g. the election form was lost in the post) c) the 
member has pre 1 April 2014 membership and the Asst Director - People & Change agrees the available evidence indicates that, due to maladministration, the member had not 
been informed of the implications of having benefits aggregated and would, in consequence, suffer a detriment to their pension benefits (for example, where member’s whole-
time equivalent pensionable pay on commencing with CCC is, in real terms after allowing for inflation, significantly less than the whole-time equivalent pensionable pay upon 
which the deferred benefits were calculated).

Employee 
contribution 
rate

How the pension contribution band to which an employee is to 
be allocated on joining the Scheme, and at each subsequent 
April, will be determined and the circumstances in which the 
employer will, in addition to the review each April, review the 
pension contribution band to which an employee has been 
allocated following a material change which affects the 
member’s pensionable pay in the course of a Scheme year (1 
April to 31 March) 

R9(1) & R9(3) Employer CCC has a position statement, which details how it will determine employee contribution rates; the statement has been agreed with the Trade Unions and communicated to 
employees. This will be reviewed each April and is published on the Council’s Intranet.

Regular lump 
sum 
payments

In determining Assumed Pensionable Pay, whether a lump 
sum payment made in the previous 12 months is a “regular 
lump sum”

R21(5) Employer In assessing Assumed Pensionable Pay (APP) for a member who is not a Returning Officer in receipt of fees Cambridge City Council will not include in the calculation any regular 
lump sum payments.

Pensionable 
Pay

Where in the Employer's opinion, the pensionable pay received 
in relation to an employerment (adjusted to reflect any lump 
sum payments) in the 3 months (or 12 weeks if not paid 
monthly) preceding the commencement of Assumed 
Pensionable Pay (AP)), is materially lower than the level of 
pensionable pay the member would have normally received, 
decide whether to substitute a higher level of pensionable pay 
having had regard to the level of pensionable pay received by 
the member in the previous 12 months. Although this 
discretion is new from 2018, The effective date is backdated to 
1 April 2014 by way of regulation 7 of the LGPS (Amendment) 
Regulations 2018.

R21(5A) & R21(5B) Employer

In determining Assumed Pensionable Pay (APP) for a member who is not a returning officer in receipt of fees Cambridge City Council will not substitute for the pensionable pay 
(including any APP) the member received (ignoring any lump sum payments) in the 3 months (or 12 weeks if paid other than monthly) used to calculate APP, a more 
representative, higher, level of pensionable pay if, having regard to the level of pensionable pay the member received in the previous 12 months, Cambridge City Council is of the 
view that the pensionable pay (including any assumed pensionable pay) the member received (ignoring any lump sum payments) in the aforementioned 3 month or 12 week 
period was materially less than what it would normally have been. 

Deferred 
benefits

Whether to extend the 12 month option period for a member 
(who did not become a member of the 2014 Scheme by virtue 
of TP5(1)) to elect that pre 1 April 2014 deferred benefits 
should be aggregated with a new employment

TP10(6) Employer

Cambridge City Council will only extend the 12 month time limit within which a scheme member who: • has a deferred LGPS benefit in England or Wales as a result of the 
cessation of an employment prior to 1st April 2014, or an election to opt out of membership of the Scheme prior to 1st April 2014, or the cessation of a concurrent employment 
prior to 1st April 2014, and • has not made an election to be treated as if they had been a member of the Scheme on 31st March 2014 and 1st April 2014 Cambridge City Council 
may elect to aggregate the deferred benefit with the new period of membership and use the value of the deferred benefit to purchase an amount of earned pension in their CARE 
pension account in the following circumstances: a) where the Asst Director - People & Change agrees that the available evidence indicates the member had not been informed of 
the 12 month time limit due to maladministration; or b) where the Asst Director - People & Change agrees that the available evidence indicates the member had made an election 
within the required 12 month period but the election was not received by the Pension Fund administering authority (e.g. the election form was lost in the post). 

Allow late application to convert scheme AVCs into 
membership credit i.e. allow application more than 30 days 
after cessation of active membership (where AVC 
arrangement was entered into before 13/11/01) 

TP15(1)(b) & 
L66(8) & former 
L66(9)(b)

Employer An extension of the time limit will only be granted where the member has not been notified of the potential additional service that may be purchased. Where this is the case CCC 
will extend the time limit to one month from the date of notification of the potential service credit

 

Joining LGPS 
membership

P
age 23



No right to return of contributions where a member left their 
employment due to offence of a fraudulent character or grave 
misconduct in connection with that employment, unless 
employer directs a total or partial refund is to be made

R19(2) Employer Cambridge City Council will direct a refund of contributions less any debt owed to the Council by the member.

Specify in an employee’s contract what other payments or 
benefits, other than those specified in R20(1)(a) and not 
otherwise precluded by R20(2), are to be pensionable

R20(1)(b) Employer CCC does not provide any payments or benefits deemed pensionable, outside those determined in R20(1)(a) which states “all the salary, wages, fees and other payments paid to 
the employee” with the exception of certain Salary Sacrifice schemes.  A document entitled what is pensionable pay is published on the Council’s intranet.

Whether to use a certificate produced by an IRMP under the 
2008 Scheme for the purposes of making an ill health  
determination under the 2014 Scheme.

TP12(6)

Employer (or 
Admin. 
Authority 
where 
Employer has 
become 
defunct)

Cambridge City Council will make the determaination in accordance with the available evidence

Determine whether person in receipt of Tier 3 ill health pension 
has started gainful employment R37(3) & (4) Employer Cambridge City Council will make this determination in accordance with the available evidence, the requirements of the LGPS Regulations 2013 and any statutory guidance 

issued by the Secretary of State.

Whether to recover any overpaid Tier 3 pension following 
commencement of gainful employment R37(3) Employer Cambridge City Council will recover any overpaid Tier 3 pension following commencement of gainful employment.

Decide whether deferred beneficiary meets criteria of being 
permanently incapable of former job because of ill health and 
is unlikely to be capable of undertaking gainful employment 
before normal pension age or for at least three years, 
whichever is the sooner.

R38(3)

Employer (or 
Admin. 
Authority 
where 
Employer has 
become 
defunct)

Cambridge City Council will make this determination in accordance with the available evidence, the requirements of the LGPS Regulations 2013 and any statutory guidance 
issued by the Secretary of State.

Decide whether a suspended ill health tier 3 member is 
unlikely to be capable of undertaking gainful employment 
before normal pension age because of ill health

R38(6)

Employer (or 
Admin. 
Authority 
where 
Employer has 
become 
defunct)

Cambridge City Council will make this determination in accordance with the available evidence, the requirements of the LGPS Regulations 2013 and any statutory guidance 
issued by the Secretary of State.

Whether to extend six month period to lodge a stage one IDRP 
appeal R74(4)

Adjudicator 
making stage 
one IDRP 
decision

Cambridge City Council will make the determaination in accordance with the available evidence

Decide procedure to be followed by adjudicator when 
exercising stage one IDRP functions and decide the manner in 
which those functions are to be exercised 

R74(6)

Adjudicator 
making stage 
one IDRP 
decision

Cambridge City Council will make the determaination in accordance with the available evidence

Whether to apply to Secretary of State for a forfeiture 
certificate (where member is convicted of a relevant offence) R91(1) & (8) Employer Where appropriate Cambridge City Council will apply for a certificate

Where forfeiture certificate is issued, whether to direct that 
benefits are to be forfeited (other than rights to GMP – but see 
R95 below)

R91(4) Employer If a forfeiture certificate is issued by the Secretary of State it will be applied against the member’s pension rights (i.e. the rights should be forfeited)

Where forfeiture certificate is issued, whether to direct interim 
payments out of Pension Fund until decision is taken to either 
apply the certificate or to pay benefits

R92(1) & (2) Employer In line with decisions under Regulations R91(1) and 91(4) there will be no need for the Council to decide whether or not to make interim payments

Whether to recover from Fund any monetary obligation or, if 
less, the value of the member’s benefits (other than benefits 
from transferred in pension rights or APCs or AVCs or, subject 
to R95 below, in respect of any GMP) where the obligation was 
incurred as a result of a grave misconduct or a criminal, 
negligent or fraudulent act or omission in connection with the 
employment and as a result of which the person has left 
employment

R93(2) Employer The Council will make the appropriate recovery and reduce the member’s pensions rights accordingly where the member has not made good the debt

Whether, if the member has committed treason or been 
imprisoned for at least 10 years for one or more offences 
under the Official Secrets Acts, forfeiture under R91 or 
recovery of a monetary obligation under R93 should deprive 
the member or the member’s surviving spouse or civil partner 
of any GMP entitlement 

R95 Employer The Council will apply forfeiture to, or recover the monetary obligation from, the relevant benefits (including from the GMP entitlement), where a member has committed treason 
or been imprisoned for at least 10 years for one or more offences under the Official Secrets Acts.

Agree to bulk transfer payment (Note: This regulation relates 
to transfer of undertakings where 2 or more members’ active 
membership ends on their joining a different registered 
pension scheme.)

R98(1)(b)

Employer / 
Admin. 
Authority / 
trustees of new 
scheme

Cambridge City Council will determine each case on its merits.

Whether to allow a member to select final pay period for fees 
to be any 3 consecutive years ending 31st March in the 10 
years prior to leaving

TP3(6), TP4(6)(c), 
TP8(4), TP10(2)(a), 
TP17(2)(b) & 
B11(2)

Employer CCC will allow members to select final pay period for fees to be any 3 consecutive years ending 31st March in the 10 years prior to leaving, subject to the approval of the 
nominated person as defined in the Council’s constitution. 

P
age 24



Discretion Regulation Exercised by

Waive 
reduction

Whether to waive, on compassionate grounds, the actuarial 
reduction applied to deferred benefits paid early under B30

B30A(5), TPSch 2, 
para 2(1)

Employer (or 
Admin. 
Authority 
where 
Employer has 
become 
defunct)

Each case will be considered on its merits and will be subject to the approval of the Asst Director - People & Change.

85 year rule
Whether to switch on the 85 year rule for a pensioner member 
with deferred benefits voluntarily drawing benefits on or after 
age 55 and before age 60

TPSch 2, para1(2) 
& 1(1)C)

Cambridge City Council will not agree to switch the 85 year rule on where pensioner members chose to voluntarily draw their deferred benefits on or after age 55 and before age 
60 except in circumstances where Cambridge City Council considers it is in the financial or operational interests to do so. Each case: -        will be considered on the merits of the 
financial and/ or operational business case put forward, and will require the approval of the Asst Director - People & Change.

Whether to extend the 12 month option period for aggregation 
of deferred benefits A16(4)(b)(ii)

Cambridge City Council will extend the 12 months period: a) where the Asst Director - People & Change agrees that the available evidence indicates the member had not been 
informed of the 12 month time limit due to maladministration b) where the Asst Director - People & Change agrees that the available evidence indicates the member had made 
an election within 12 months of joining the LGPS but the election was not received by the appropriate administering authority (e.g. the election form was lost in the post) c) the 
member has pre 1 April 2014 membership and the Asst Director - People & Change agrees the available evidence indicates that, due to maladministration, the member had not 
been informed of the implications of having benefits aggregated and would, in consequence, suffer a detriment to their pension benefits (for example, where member’s whole-
time equivalent pensionable pay on commencing with CCC is, in real terms after allowing for inflation, significantly less than the whole-time equivalent pensionable pay upon 
which the deferred benefits were calculated).

Whether to extend the normal time limit for acceptance of a 
transfer value beyond 12 months from joining the LGPS A83(8)

Cambridge City Council will extend the 12 months period: a) where the Asst Director - People & Change agrees that the available evidence indicates the member had not been 
informed of the 12 month time limit due to maladministration b) where the Asst Director - People & Change agrees that the available evidence indicates the member had made 
an election within 12 months of joining the LGPS but the election was not received by the appropriate administering authority (e.g. the election form was lost in the post) c) the 
member has pre 1 April 2014 membership and the Asst Director - People & Change agrees the available evidence indicates that, due to maladministration, the member had not 
been informed of the implications of having benefits aggregated and would, in consequence, suffer a detriment to their pension benefits (for example, where member’s whole-
time equivalent pensionable pay on commencing with CCC is, in real terms after allowing for inflation, significantly less than the whole-time equivalent pensionable pay upon 
which the deferred benefits were calculated).

Allow late application to convert scheme AVCs into 
membership credit i.e. allow application more than 30 days 
after cessation of active membership

TSch1 & L66(8) & 
former L66(9)(b)  Employer An extension of the time limit will only be granted where the member has not been notified of the potential additional service that may be purchased. Where this is the case CCC 

will extend the time limit to one month from the date of notification of the potential service credit.

Whether to allow a late application by member to pay optional 
contributions for a period of unpaid child related leave, strike, 
or unpaid leave of absence beyond 30 days

A22(2) Employer CCC will consider each case on its own merits and will be subject to the approval of the Asst Director - People & Change

No right to return of contributions where member left their 
employment due to offence of a fraudulent character or grave 
misconduct in connection with that employment unless 
employer directs a total or partial refund is to be made

A47(2) Employer Cambridge City Council will direct a refund of contributions less any debt owed to the Council by the member (see Reg A76 (2) and (3))

Contribution Equivalent Premium (CEP) in excess of the 
Certified Amount (CA) recovered from a refund of 
contributions can be recovered from the Pension Fund

A49(1) & (2) - see 
additional note on 
Tab Reg A49

Employer The balance is recovered from the fund.  In practice this is achieved by the administering authority paying the CEP out of the fund direct to the relevant government departments 
on behalf of the employer.

Whether to extend six month period to lodge a stage one IDRP 
appeal A58(7)(b)

Person making 
stage one 
IDRP decision

Cambridge City Council will extend the 6 months period: a) where the Asst Director - People & Change agrees that the available evidence indicates the member had not been 
informed of the 6 month time limit due to maladministration b) where the Asst Director - People & Change agrees that the available evidence indicates the member had made an 
election within 6 months of joining the LGPS but the election was not received by the appropriate administering authority (e.g. the election form was lost in the post) 

Whether to apply to Secretary of State for a forfeiture 
certificate where member is convicted of a relevant offence (a 
relevant offence is an offence committed in connection with an 
employment in which the person convicted is a member, and 
because of which the member left the employment)

A72(1) & (6) Employer Where appropriate the Council will apply for a certificate

Where forfeiture certificate is issued, whether to direct that 
benefits are to be forfeited A72(3) Employer If a forfeiture certificate is issued by the Secretary of State it will be applied against the member’s pension rights (i.e. the rights should be forfeited)

Where forfeiture certificate is issued, whether to direct interim 
payments out of Pension Fund until decision is taken to either 
apply the certificate or to pay benefits

A73(1) & (2) Employer In line with decisions under Regulations A72(1) and 72(3) there will be no need for the Council to decide whether or not to make interim payments.

Whether to recover from Fund any monetary obligation or, if 
less, the value of the member’s benefits (other than 
transferred in pension rights or AVCs/SCAVCs) where the 
obligation was incurred as a result of a criminal, negligent or 
fraudulent act or omission in connection with the employment 
and as a result of which the person has left employment

A74(2) Employer The Council will make the appropriate recovery and reduce the member’s pension rights accordingly where the member has not made good the debt.

Whether to recover from Fund any financial loss caused by 
fraudulent offence or grave misconduct of employee (who has 
left employment because of that fraudulent offence or grave 
misconduct), or amount of refund if less.

A76(2) & (3) Employer The Council will make the appropriate recovery from the pension fund where the member has not made good the debt.

Decide whether deferred beneficiary meets permanent ill 
health and reduced likelihood of gainful employment criteria B31(4)

Employer (or 
Admin. 
Authority 
where 
Employer has 
become 
defunct)

Cambridge City Council will make this determination in accordance with the available evidence, the requirements of the LGPS Regulations 2013 and any statutory guidance 
issued by the Secretary of State.

Discretions in relation to Scheme Members (excluding Councillor Members) who ceased active 
membership on or after 1.4.08 and before 1.4.14. B = LGPS (Benefits, Memberships and Contributions) 
Regulations 2007

P
age 25



Decide whether a suspended ill health tier 3 member is 
permanently incapable of undertaking any gainful employment B31(7)

Employer (or 
Admin. 
Authority 
where 
Employer has 
become 
defunct)

Cambridge City Council will make this determination in accordance with the available evidence, the requirements of the LGPS Regulations 2013 and any statutory guidance 
issued by the Secretary of State.

P
age 26



  

Discretion Regulation Exercised by
Employer 
consent 
retirement

Grant an application for early payment of deferred benefits on 
or after age 50 and before age 55. 31(2) Employer CCC will consider each case on its own merits.

85 year rule

Whether to switch on the 85 year rule for a member with 
deferred benefits voluntarily drawing benefits on or after age 
55 and before age 60.  Note:  TPSch2, para 2(2) does not 
reference para 1(1)(f) so there is stricty speaking no 
requirement to publish a policy under this regulation or 
R60.  LGSS recognises this is a regulatory omission and 
the employer should publish a policy accordingly

TPSch 2,para 1(2) 
& 1(1)(f) & R60 Employer

Cambridge City Council will not agree to switch the 85 year rule on where members chose to voluntarily draw their benefits on or after age 55 and before age 60 except in 
exceptional circumstances. Each case - will be considered on the merits of the case put forward, and - will require the approval of the Asst Director - People & Change. 
Cambridge City Council will not agree to switch the 85 year rule on where members chose to voluntarily draw their deferred benefits on or after age 55 and before age 60 except 
in circumstances where Cambridge City Council considers it is in the financial or operational interests to do so. Each case: will be considered on the merits of the financial and/ or 
operational business case put forward, and will require the approval of the Asst Director - People & Change.

Waive 
reduction

Waive, on compassionate grounds, the actuarial reduction 
applied to deferred benefits paid early 31(5) Employer CCC will consider each case on its own merits.

Issue a certificate of protection of pension benefits where  
member fails to apply for one (pay cuts / restrictions occurring 
pre 1.4.08)

23(4) Employer  CCC will consider each case on its own merits.

Decide, in the absence of an election from the member within 
3 months of being able to elect, which benefit is to be paid 
where the member would be entitled to a pension or 
retirement grant under 2 or more regulations in respect of the 
same period of Scheme membership

34(1)(b) Employer Where a member has not made an election within 3 months the Council will apply whichever is deemed the more beneficial provision. 

No right to return of contributions where member left their 
employment due to offence of a fraudulent character or grave 
misconduct in connection with that employment unless 
employer directs a total or partial refund is to be made.

88(2) Employer Cambridge City Council will direct a refund of contributions less any debt owed to the Council by the member

Employer may deduct contributions from a councillor’s pay or 
reserve forces pay 89(1) & (2) Employer CCC will consider each case on its own merits.

Contribution Equivalent Premium (CEP) in excess of the 
Certified Amount (CA) recovered from a refund of 
contributions can be recovered from the Pension Fund 
(councillor leavers and pre 1.4.08. leavers)

92 - see additional 
note on Tab Reg 
92

Employer The balance is recovered from the fund.  In practice this is achieved by the administering authority paying the CEP out of the fund direct to the relevant government departments 
on behalf of the employer

Forfeiture of pension rights on issue of Secretary of State’s 
certificate following a relevant offence (a relevant offence is an 
offence committed in connection with an employment in which 
the person convicted is a member, and because of which the 
member left the employment)

111(2) & (5) Employer If a forfeiture certificate is issued by the Secretary of State it will be applied against the members pension rights (i.e. the rights should be forfeited)

Where forfeiture certificate is issued, direct interim payments 
out of Pension Fund until decision is taken to either apply the 
certificate or to pay benefits

112(1) Employer In line with decisions under Regulations C111(2) and (5), there will be no need for the Council to decide whether or not to make interim payments

Recovery from Fund of monetary obligation owed by former 
employee or, if less, the value of the member’s benefits (other 
than transferred in pension rights)

113(2) Employer The Council will make the appropriate recovery and reduce the member’s pensions rights accordingly where the member has not made good the debt

Recovery from Fund of financial loss caused by employee, or 
amount of refund if less. 115(2) & (3) Employer The Council will make the appropriate recovery from the pension fund where the member has not made good the debt.

Discretions under the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1997 (as amended) in relation to:

a)    active councillor members, and 
b)    councillor members who ceased active membership on or after 1.4.98., and

c)    any other scheme members who ceased active membership on or after 1.4.98. and before 1.4.08. 

P
age 27



 Discretion Regulation Exercised by

Employer 
consent 
retirement

Grant an application for early payment of deferred benefits on 
or after age 50 on compassionate grounds. Note: although the 
common provisions of the 1997 Transitional provisions 
regulations do not specify regulation D11(2)(c ), their intention 
was that it should apply to this regulation

D11(2)(c) Employer Each request will be considered on its merits and will be subject to the approval of the Asst Director - People & Change.

Decide, in the absence of an election from the member within 
3 months of being able to elect, which benefit is to be paid 
where the member would be entitled to a pension or 
retirement grant under 2 or more regulations in respect of the 
same period of Scheme membership.

D10 Employer Where a member has not made an election within 3 months the Council will apply whichever is deemed the more beneficial provision. 

Discretions under the Local Government Pension Scheme Regulations 1995 (as amended) in relation to 
scheme members who ceased active membership before 1.4.98. 

P
age 28



Discretion Regulation Exercised by
Redundancy 
Pay on actual 
weeks pay

To base redundancy payments on an actual weeks pay where 
this exceeds the statutory weeks pay limit. 5 Employer Redundancy payments will be based on actual weeks’ pay.

Lump sum 
compensation

To award lump sum compensation of up to 104 weeks pay in 
cases of redundancy, termination of employment on efficiency 
grounds, or cessation of a joint appointment. 

6 Employer CCC does not award any such compensation in cases of redundancy, termination of employment on business efficiency grounds, or cessation of a joint appointment.

Discretions under the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2006 (as amended)
Under Regulation 7 of the Discretionary Compensation Regulations, each authority (other than an Admitted Body) 
is required to formulate and keep under review a policy which applies in respect of exercising their discretion in 
relation to:

P
age 29



 Discretion Regulation Exercised by

Abatement 
during re-
employment

To what extent to reduce or suspend the member's annual 
compensatory added years payment during any period of re-
employment in local government 

17 Employer

Where compensatory added years were awarded on or after 21 June 2000 CCC will reduce a person's annual compensatory added years payment following the cessation of a period of re-employment in local 
government to the extent necessary to secure that if: - the period of compensatory added years granted in respect of the former employment, plus - the period of membership the person has accrued in the LGPS 
(or would have accrued had he / she joined the scheme) during the period of re-employment in local government, counted at its part-time length, if the person was part-time, exceeds - the period of membership the 
person would have accrued during the period from the cessation of the former employment until age 65 on the assumption that he / she had continued in that former employment to age 65 (again counted at its part-
time length if the person was part-time at the date of cessation of the former employment), then - the annual pension and lump sum from the first job combined with the annual pension and automatic lump sum (if 
any) from the second job (based on the assumption that the employee joined the LGPS at the first opportunity), plus the annual compensation and lump sum compensation, shall not in aggregate exceed the 
pension and lump sum the person would have achieved if he / she had remained in the first job through to age 65.   Where there is an excess, the annual compensation must be reduced by the excess pension, 
and if the annual compensation is not reduced to nil, the amount of the remaining (reduced) basic annual compensation (excluding cost of living increases) must then be suspended until the excess lump sum (if 
any) is recovered. In calculating whether or not, in aggregate, the annual pension and lump sum from the first job, plus the annual pension and lump sum (if any) from the second job (based on the assumption that 
the employee joined the LGPS at the first opportunity), plus the annual compensation and lump sum compensation, exceeds the pension and lump sum the person would have achieved if he / she had remained in 
the first job through to age 65 it will be necessary to compare: a) the actual LGPS pre 1 April 2009 1/80th pension and 3/80ths lump sum, plus the actual LGPS post 31 March 2008 1/60th pension (ignoring any 
commutation for a lump sum), plus the actual 1/80th annual compensation and 3/80ths lump sum compensation, with b) the 1/80th LGPS pension and 3/80ths lump sum the member would have achieved in their 
first job to 31 March 2008, plus the 1/60th LGPS pension the member would have achieved in their first job (ignoring any potential commutation for a lump sum), if the member had stayed in the first job through to 
age 65. In determining the benefits the employee could have achieved had he / she remained in the first employment through to age 65 it will be necessary to determine the pensionable pay to be used in the 
calculation. For this purpose, the pensionable pay figure used in the calculation of the pension benefits in the first job will be used as brought up to date, at the date of cessation of the period or re-employment, by 
increasing it in line with the rate at which an “official pension” would have been increased under the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971. If a person has been awarded more than one previous period of compensatory 
added years, e.g. as a result of being made redundant more than once, the abatement/clawback provisions are modified. In such a case, the rules under the former Local Government (Discretionary Payments) 
Regulations 1996 will be applied where a person ceases a period of re-employment in local government and has previously been granted more than one period of compensatory added years, but using the pay in the 
first job as increased in line with cost of living increases (i.e. ignoring regulations 18(5)(a)(ii), 18(6) and 18(7) of the Local Government (Discretionary Payments) Regulations 1996). Where compensatory added 
years were awarded before 21 June 2000, Cambridge City Council will reduce a person's annual compensatory added years’ payment following the cessation of a period of re-employment in local government (see 
note below) in accordance with the Local Government (Discretionary Payments) Regulations 1996.

Reduction 
following 
cessation of 
re-
employment

How to reduce the member's annual compensatory added 
years payment following the cessation of a period of re-
employment in local government 

19 Employer

Where compensatory added years were awarded on or after 21 June 2000 CCC will reduce a person's annual compensatory added years payment following the cessation of a 
period of re-employment in local government to the extent necessary to secure that if: - the annual compensation (including any pension increases), and - the annual pension 
from the LGPS (including any pension increases), and - the annual rate of pay from the new employment exceeds the pay the person would have received from the employment 
in respect of which the compensatory added years were granted, based on the annual rate of pay at the date of ceasing the former employment as increased by the relevant cost 
of living increases (i.e. as increased by the rate at which an “official pension” is increased under the Pensions (Increase) Act 1971).  

Apportionmen
t of survivor 
benefit

How to apportion any surviving spouse's or civil partner’s 
annual compensatory added years payment where the 
deceased person is survived by more than one spouse or civil 
partner

21(4) Employer
The Council will apportion any surviving spouses or civil partner’s annual compensatory added years where the deceased person is survived by more than one spouse or civil 
partner in such proportions as, at its sole discretion, it sees fit (based on the merits of the individual cases).  Where no representation is received payments will normally be 
apportioned equally.  

Whether, in respect of the spouse of a person who ceased 
employment before 1 April 1998 and where the spouse or civil 
partner remarries, enters into a new civil partnership or 
cohabits after 1 April 1998, the normal pension suspension 
rules should be disapplied i.e. whether the spouse's or civil 
partner’s annual compensatory added years payments should 
continue to be paid

21(7) Employer If the spouse or civil partner of a person who ceased employment before 1 April 1998 remarries, enters into a new civil partnership or cohabits after 1 April 1998, the normal 
annual compensation suspension rules will be disapplied i.e. the spouse's or civil partner’s annual compensatory added years will continue to be paid

If, under the preceding decision, the authority's policy is to 
apply the normal suspension rules, whether the spouse's or 
civil partner’s annual compensatory added years payment 
should be reinstated after the end of the remarriage, new civil 
partnership or cohabitation

21(5) Employer Due to the decision in discretion ET21(7) above this discretion is not applicable.

How it will decide to whom any children's annual 
compensatory added years payments are to be paid where 
children's pensions are not payable under the LGPS (because 
the employee had not joined the LGPS) and, in such a case, 
how the annual added years will be apportioned amongst the 
eligible children

Employer This discretion is not applicable because CCC did not award Compensatory Added Years to non LGPS members

Whether, in respect of the spouse or civil partner of a person 
who ceased employment before 1 April 1998 and where the 
spouse or civil partner remarries or cohabits or enters into a 
civil partnership on or after 1 April 1998 with another person 
who is also entitled to a spouse’s or civil partners annual CAY 
payment, the normal rule requiring one of them to forego 
payment whilst the period of marriage, civil partnership or co-
habitation lasts, should be disapplied i.e. whether the spouses’ 
or civil partners’ annual CAY payments should continue to be 
paid to both of them

21(7) Employer
If the spouse or civil partner of a person who ceased employment before 1 April 1998 remarries or cohabits after 1 April 1998 with another person who is also entitled to a 
spouse’s or civil partners annual CAY payment, the normal annual compensation suspension rules will be disapplied i.e. the spouse's or civil partner’s annual compensatory 
added years will continue to be paid to both of them.

Discretions under the Local Government (Early Termination of Employment) (Discretionary Compensation) 
(England and Wales) Regulations 2000 (as amended)
These Regulations still apply to any Compensatory Added Years previously awarded by a Scheme Employer 
before 1 April 2007. Scheme employers (other than admission bodies) who made awards of Compensatory Added 
Years are required to have a policy on the following::

Effects of 
remarriage, 
new civil 
partnership or 
co-habitation 
on survivor's 
compensation 
payments

P
age 30



 Discretion Regulation Exercised by

Whether to grant an injury allowance following reduction in
remuneration as a result of sustaining an injury or contracting a 
disease in the course of carrying out duties of the job.

3(1) Employer Cambridge City Council will not make any awards under the Local Government (Discretionary Payments)(Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 as CCC holds Employer’s Liability
Insurance. CCC has provision for NJC employees under the National Agreement on pay and conditions of service (Green Book)

Amount of injury allowance following reduction in remuneration 
as a result of sustaining an injury or contracting a disease in
the course of carrying out duties of the job.

3(4) and 8 Employer Cambridge City Council will not make any awards under the Local Government (Discretionary Payments)(Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 as CCC holds Employer’s Liability
Insurance. CCC has provision for NJC employees under the National Agreement on pay and conditions of service (Green Book)

Determine whether person continues to be entitled to an injury
allowance awarded under regulation 3(1) (reduction in
remuneration as a result of sustaining an injury or contracting a 
disease in the course of carrying out duties of the job).

3(2) Employer Cambridge City Council will not make any awards under the Local Government (Discretionary Payments)(Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 as CCC holds Employer’s Liability
Insurance. CCC has provision for NJC employees under the National Agreement on pay and conditions of service (Green Book)

Whether to grant an injury allowance following cessation of
employment as a result of permanent incapacity caused by
sustaining an injury or contracting a disease in the course of
carrying out duties of the job.

4(1) Employer Cambridge City Council will not make any awards under the Local Government (Discretionary Payments)(Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 as CCC holds Employer’s Liability
Insurance. CCC has provision for NJC employees under the National Agreement on pay and conditions of service (Green Book)

Amount of injury allowance following cessation of employment
as a result of permanent incapacity caused by sustaining an
injury or contracting a disease in the course of carrying out
duties of the job.

4(3) and 8 Employer Cambridge City Council will not make any awards under the Local Government (Discretionary Payments)(Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 as CCC holds Employer’s Liability
Insurance. CCC has provision for NJC employees under the National Agreement on pay and conditions of service (Green Book)

Determine whether person continues to be entitled to an injury
allowance awarded under regulation 4(1) (loss of employment
through permanent incapacity)

4(2) Employer Cambridge City Council will not make any awards under the Local Government (Discretionary Payments)(Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 as CCC holds Employer’s Liability
Insurance. CCC has provision for NJC employees under the National Agreement on pay and conditions of service (Green Book)

Whether to grant an injury allowance to the spouse, civil
partner, co-habiting partner or dependent of an employee who
dies as a result of sustaining an injury or contracting a disease
in the course of carrying out duties of the job.
The requirement to nominate a cohabiting partner has ceased
entirely under these regulations due to the outcome of Elmes v
Essex CC high court judgement

7(1) Employer Cambridge City Council will not make any awards under the Local Government (Discretionary Payments)(Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 as CCC holds Employer’s Liability
Insurance. CCC has provision for NJC employees under the National Agreement on pay an

Scheme employers (other than admission bodies) must have a policy on:

Discretions under the Local Government (Discretionary Payments) (Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011

Injury 
Allowances

Whether to suspend or discontinue injury allowance awarded
under regulation 4(1) (loss of employment through permanent
incapacity) if person secures paid employment for not less
than 30 hours per week for a period of not less than 12
months.

4(5) Employer Cambridge City Council will not make any awards under the Local Government (Discretionary Payments)(Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 as CCC holds Employer’s Liability
Insurance. CCC has provision for NJC employees under the National Agreement on pay and conditions of service (Green Book)

Whether to grant an injury allowance following cessation of
employment with entitlement to immediate LGPS pension
where a regulation 3 payment (reduction in remuneration as a
result of sustaining an injury or contracting a disease in the
course of carrying out duties of the job) was being made at
date of cessation of employment but regulation 4 (loss of
employment through permanent incapacity) does not apply.

6(1) Employer Cambridge City Council will not make any awards under the Local Government (Discretionary Payments)(Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 as CCC holds Employer’s Liability
Insurance. CCC has provision for NJC employees under the National Agreement on pay and conditions of service (Green Book)

Determine amount of any injury allowance to be paid under
regulation 6(1) (payment of injury allowance following the
cessation of employment).

6(1) Employer Cambridge City Council will not make any awards under the Local Government (Discretionary Payments)(Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 as CCC holds Employer’s Liability
Insurance. CCC has provision for NJC employees under the National Agreement on pay and conditions of service (Green Book)

Determine whether and when to cease payment of an injury
allowance payable under regulation 6(1) (payment of injury
allowance following the cessation of employment).

6(2) Employer Cambridge City Council will not make any awards under the Local Government (Discretionary Payments)(Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 as CCC holds Employer’s Liability
Insurance. CCC has provision for NJC employees under the National Agreement on pay and conditions of service (Green Book)

P
age 31



 

Determine whether and when to cease payment of an injury
allowance payable under regulation 7(1) (employee who dies
as a result of sustaining an injury or contracting a disease in
the course of carrying out duties of the job."

7(3) Employer Cambridge City Council will not make any awards under the Local Government (Discretionary Payments)(Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 as CCC holds Employer’s Liability
Insurance. CCC has provision for NJC employees under the National Agreement on pay and conditions of service (Green Book)

Determine amount of any injury allowance to be paid to the
spouse, civil partner, nominated co-habiting partner (for
awards made on or after 1 April 2008 the requirement to
nominate a cohabiting partner has ceased due to the outcome
of Elmes v Essex CC high court judgement) or dependent
under regulation 7(1) (employee who dies as a result of
sustaining an injury or contracting a disease in the course of
carrying out duties of the job.

7(2) and 8 Employer Cambridge City Council will not make any awards under the Local Government (Discretionary Payments)(Injury Allowances) Regulations 2011 as CCC holds Employer’s Liability
Insurance. CCC has provision for NJC employees under the National Agreement on pay and conditions of service (Green Book)

P
age 32


	Agenda
	4 Draft Pay Policy Statement 2025/26
	Appendix 1 - PAY POLICY STATEMENT 2026

	5 Pensions Discretion Statement
	Pensions Discretions Policy Draft_ (002)
	Pen Discretions 2025



